# 2009-CA-00328T

#### **CERTIFICATE OF INTERESTED PERSONS**

The undersigned counsel of record certifies that the following listed persons have an interest in the outcome of this case. These representations are made in order that the Justices of the Supreme Court and/or the Judges of the Court of Appeals may evaluate possible disqualification or recusal.

- 1. Verna Mae P. Carroll, Appellant;
- 2. Anna F. Carroll, Appellee;
- 3. S. Carter Dobbs, counsel for Appellee;
- 4. Clifford Parish, surety on supersedeas bond;
- 5. Kathy Parish, surety on supersedeas bond;
- 6. Michael W. Carroll, surety on supersedeas bond;
- 7. Jeanni Carroll, surety on supersedeas bond;

#### STATEMENT OF THE ISSUES

- 1. Whether the Trial Court erred by applying the Uniform Fraudulent Transfer Act, since the act was not effective until over two (2) years after this litigation was commenced
- 2. Whether the transfer of \$153,274.65 to Verna Mae Carroll could be set aside as fraudulent under either the Uniform Fraudulent Transfer Act or the predecessor statutes where Roger Carroll undisputedly owed this sum to Verna Mae Carroll at the time of the transfer.
- 3. Whether the Trial Court erred by not dismissing Anna Carroll's Complaint pursuant to the doctrine of judicial estoppel, since Anna Carroll claimed in another proceeding that this case had been finally settled.

#### STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Anna Carroll filed her Complaint alleging various fraudulent conveyances against Defendants on January 27, 2005. (R. Vol. 1, p. 1-13). Anna Carroll made claims against Mississippi Gravel Sales, LLC, Cynthia Loden, Tim Parker, Roger Carroll and Verna Mae Carroll. (*Id.*). Anna Carroll voluntarily dismissed Mississippi Gravel Sales, LLC, the purchaser of Mississippi Gravel Sales, Inc.'s assets, on May 18, 2007. (R. Vol. 1, p. 108).

Verna Mae Carroll filed a Motion for Summary Judgment on July 2, 2008. (R. Vol. 2, p. 187). The Trial Court denied the Motion by Order entered on December 15, 2008. (R. Vol. 3, p. 415). Verna Mae Carroll filed a Motion to Dismiss, or Alternatively for Summary Judgment, Based on Judicial Estoppel, on December 15, 2008. (R. Vol. 2, p. 372). The Trial Court continued a hearing on this dispositive Motion. (T. Vol. 1, p. 91). The Trial Court proceeded with trial on December 15, 2008. (See id.). The Trial Court never ruled on the Motion to Dismiss, or Alternatively for Summary Judgment, Based on Judicial Estoppel.

Trial was concluded on December 15, 2008. (See T. Vol. 2, p. 263). The Trial Court issued its opinion orally on December 16, 2008. (T. Vol. 2, p. 263-289; Appellant's R.E. tab 3). A Judgment was signed by the Court on January 14, 2009 and filed on January 21, 2009. (R. Vol. 2, p. 419; Appellant's R.E. tab 2).

Verna Mae Carroll filed a Motion for New Trial or to Alter or Amend Judgment on January 22, 2009. (R. Vol. 4, p. 433). Anna Carroll filed her post-trial Motion on January 29, 2009. (R. Vol. 4, p. 439). The Trial Court denied both Parties' post-trial Motions by Orders entered on February 23, 2009. (R. Vol. 4, p. 457-59).

Verna Mae Carroll timely perfected this appeal and Anna Carroll filed a Notice of Cross Appeal. (T. Vol. 4, p. 461, 465).

#### **STATEMENT OF FACTS**

Roger A. Carroll ("Roger") and Anna F. Carroll ("Anna") were married in 1983 and resided in Monroe County, Mississippi. ( T. Vol. 1, p. 95, Ex. No. 265). Roger's parents, William R. Carroll and Verna Mae Carroll ("Verna Mae") owned two (2) gravel businesses. (T. Vol. 2, p. 191). One of the businesses was Mississippi Gravel Sales, Inc. (T. Vol. 2, p. 190). The other business operated as Carroll's Gravel. (T. Vol. 2, p. 191).

Verna Mae and her husband, William Carroll, sold Mississippi Gravel Sales, Inc. to their son, Roger, in January 1999 during his marriage to Anna. (T. Vol. 2, p. 192). Roger and his parents signed an "Agreement for Sale and Transfer of Assets" on January 15, 1999, under which Roger purchased Mississippi Gravel Sales, Inc. (See Ex. No. 5, Appellant's R.E. tab 7, "Agreement for Sale and Transfer of Assets"). The Agreement for Sale and Transfer of Assets ("Agreement") provided that Roger would purchase the business under the following terms:

- A. The purchase price due from Buyer to Seller shall be Four Hundred Fifty Thousand Dollars (\$450,000) to be payable as follows:
  - (1) \$150,000 cash at the time of closing.
  - (2) \$300,000.00 payable over a period of ten (10) years at the rate of seven (7%) per cent due and payable in monthly installments of \$3,483.25 with the first payment being due on the 15<sup>th</sup> day of February, 1999 and on the 15<sup>th</sup> day of every month thereafter until paid in full.
- (*Id.*). As part of the purchase, Roger obtained ownership of Mississippi Gravel Sales, Inc.'s equipment. (T. Vol. 2, p. 193). However, his parents' other business, Carroll's Gravel, retained a few pieces of equipment. (T. Vol. 2, p. 194). Roger took over Mississippi Gravel Sales, Inc. and was the president and sole shareholder of the corporation. (T. Vol. 2, p. 170-71).

Roger obtained a \$150,000 bank loan to make the down payment to his parents for the business. (T. Vol. 2. p. 167, 194). Following the closing on the purchase of the business, Roger

paid payments on the \$300,000 remaining indebtedness under the Agreement. (T. Vol. 2, p. 194.). During trial Verna Mae introduced evidence, in the form of bank statements, demonstrating that Roger had indeed made the monthly payments called for under the Agreement for the business purchase indebtedness. (*See* T. Vol. 2, p. 197; Ex. No. 9). Verna Mae explained that she and her husband planned to use Roger's monthly payments to live on during their retirement. (T. Vol. 2, p. 192).

Roger's father, William R. Carroll, died intestate a few years after he sold the business to Roger, on May 29, 2003. (See T. Vol. 2, p. 190, 199). William R. Carroll had owned three (3) parcels of real property solely in his name at the time of his death. (T. Vol. 2, p. 199). As a result, these properties passed equally to Verna Mae and each of the four children of Verna Mae and William R. Carroll. (See id). Shortly after William R. Carroll's death, in July 2003, each of the children conveyed their undivided one-fifth interest in these parcels back to their mother, Verna Mae. (Id.).

Following William Carroll's death, Roger continued to make payments to Verna Mae on the indebtedness owed on the purchase of the gravel business. (*See* T. Vol. 2, p. 198). Anna filed her Complaint for Divorce against Roger a few months later on September 19, 2003. (R. Vol. 3, p. 420; T. Vol. 2, p. 263). An Agreed Temporary Order was entered in Anna and Roger's divorce case on January 16, 2004. (*See* Ex. No. 1). The Agreed Temporary Order required Roger to pay a few household bills for Anna, mow the lawn at the marital home and pay \$160 per month child support and \$600 per month spousal support. (*Id.* at 27).

Roger testified that the gravel business began to decline later in 2004. (T. Vol. 2, p. 171). Roger testified he decided to sell the business because of lower profits and decreased gravel reserves on the site. (T. Vol. 2, p. 171-72). Roger sold the business for \$500,000 to Mississippi

Gravel Sales, LLC on November 17, 2004, while the divorce action was ongoing. (*See* Ex. No. 2). Roger testified that his attorney in the divorce case advised him that he could sell the gravel business. (T. Vol. 1, p. 185). Roger's attorney in the divorce case produced documents evidencing the sale of the business to Anna's divorce attorney on November 30, 2004. (T. Vol 1, p. 104-07; Ex. No. 4).

From the \$500,000 proceeds from the sale of the business, Roger paid several creditors, including Verna Mae. (*See* Ex. No. 8; T. Vol. 2, 200-01). Roger paid Verna Mae the total sum of \$191,772.29, in two separate checks, from the sale of the gravel business. (*Id.*). The law firm which closed the transaction mailed Verna Mae the two checks on November 18, 2004. (R. Vol. 3, p. 366). The checks mailed to Verna Mae represented: 1) the amount she was still owed under the Agreement for Sale and Transfer of Assets; and 2) the value of certain equipment Roger sold with the gravel business which Carroll's Gravel owned. (Ex. No. 8; T. Vol. 2, p. 201-02, 203-04).

Roger owed Verna Mae \$153,274.65 under the Agreement as of the date he sold the business. (See T. Vol. 2, Ex. No. 10, amortization schedule). There was no dispute at trial that Roger owed Verna Mae this amount from his purchase of the business. (T. Vol. 1, p. 114-15). The separately transferred funds of \$38,497.64 represented the value of equipment – a portable screening plant and a wash plant – which had been retained by Carroll's Gravel that Roger sold with the business to Mississippi Gravel Sales, LLC. (T. Vol. 2, p. 173-76, 203-04; Ex. No. 8).

The divorce action between Roger and Anna was finally tried on February 1, 2005. (Ex. No. 3, Decree for Divorce). The Chancery Court found that Mississippi Gravel Sales, Inc. had been a marital asset, but noted that the business had been sold prior to the conclusion of the divorce proceeding. (R. Vol. 2, p. 261-62). The Court held that "in the event the sale of [the

business] is set aside in any future litigation, the Plaintiff will be entitled to one-half of the net proceeds of that business." (R. Vol. 2, p. 262).

Anna commenced this action on January 27, 2005, seeking to set aside alleged "fraudulent conveyances" including the sale of Mississippi Gravel Sales, Inc. to Mississippi Gravel Sales, LLC. (R. Vol. 1, p. 13). However, Anna subsequently abandoned her claim to set aside the sale of the business to Mississippi Gravel, LLC. (R. Vol. 1, p. 108). Anna, through her counsel, agreed to the dismissal of Mississippi Gravel Sales, LLC as a party to this action by Order entered on May 18, 2007, based on the fact that Roger Carroll had no ownership or connection with Mississippi Gravel Sales, LLC. (*Id.*).

Anna's remaining claims sought to attack Roger's transfer of funds owed to Verna Mae and the conveyance of property following William Carroll's death. (See R. Vol. 1, p. 11). However, Anna conceded at trial that Roger still owed Verna Mae under the Agreement when he sold the gravel business. (T. Vol. 1, p. 114). The record reflects the following stipulation and testimony in this regard:

[ANNA'S TRIAL COUNSEL]: Your Honor, we don't dispute that Mr. Carroll owed his mother under the terms of that agreement.

\* \* \*

Q: Ms. Carroll, in light of the statement that was just made, I may be able to skip some of this. Would you agree with me that Roger Carroll legitimately owed his mother \$153,274.65 under the agreement which you're holding in your hand, which is Exhibit 5, as of the date that he sold Mississippi Gravel Sales, Inc.?

A. [ANNA CARROLL] Yes.

(T. Vol. 1, p. 114-15). Anna further admitted that she had no evidence that any of the property transferred to Verna Mae were "shady dealings" or otherwise fraudulent in any respect. (T. Vol.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> Chancellor Littlejohn presided over both Anna's divorce case and this case. (See R. Vol. 4, p. 409) (Decree for Divorce in cause number 2003-490-48-L).

1, p. 115). In fact, Anna admitted that she had no evidence that Verna Mae intended to cheat her out of anything, or that Verna Mae did anything other than accept payment for a debt that was legitimately owed to her. (*Id.*).

This case was scheduled for trial on December 15, 2008. (R. Vol. 3, p. 357). Ten (10) days before trial, Anna filed a new action in the Circuit Court of Monroe County, Mississippi alleging that this very case, and the divorce case against Roger, had both been settled by the mutual agreement of all of the Parties on April 14, 2008.<sup>2</sup> (See Trial Exhibit No. 6; T. Vol. 1, p. 120-21) ("Circuit Court Complaint").<sup>3</sup> Anna filed the Circuit Court Complaint on December 5, 2008. (Id.). Defendant Verna Mae P. Carroll was served with process on December 10, 2008, just five (5) days before trial. (R. Vol. 3, p. 372).

Anna's Circuit Court Complaint alleged that the Parties engaged in settlement negotiations on April 14, 2008, regarding this matter and her divorce case. (Ex. No. 6, Circuit Court Complaint). The Circuit Court Complaint alleges, *inter alia*, that:

At the end of the day a settlement was reached in said Cause No. 2003-490-48-L and 2005-53-48-L of the Chancery Court of Monroe County, Mississippi, between Plaintiff and the Defendants in this instant case whereby Defendant Roger A. Carroll agreed to pay certain sums to the Plaintiff, and Defendants Verna Mae P. Carroll and/or Cynthia Ann Carroll Loden agreed to pledge certain real property as security for a loan, whereby Defendant Roger A. Carroll would obtain the funds necessary to effect said settlement. The Plaintiff agreed to dismiss all pending litigation in said two Chancery Court cases with prejudice. Said settlement was expected to have been finally consummated within 30 days of April 14, 2008.

(Ex. No. 6, Circuit Court Complaint at ¶ 17; R. Vol. 4, p. 384). The Circuit Court Complaint goes on to allege that Defendants, including Verna Mae, failed to consummate the settlement,

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> The Chancellor's decision in the divorce case had been reversed in part and remanded by the Court of Appeals in May 2697. Carroll v. Carroll, 976 So. 2d 880, 888 (Miss. Ct. App. 2007).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> The Trial Court sustained an objection to the relevance of Anna's Circuit Court action and denied admission of the Circuit Court Complaint. (T. Vol. 1, p 119-20). The Complaint was marked for identification only and limited questioning regarding the Circuit Court action was made by proffer. (T. Vol. 1, p. 120-21).

and alleges various causes of action based on the breach of the alleged settlement agreement. (*Id.*). The Circuit Action was still pending as of the trial of this case in Chancery Court. (*See id.*). Anna dismissed the Circuit Court Action on February 25, 2009, seventy one (71) days *after* the Chancery Court's decision in her favor in this case. (R. Vol. 4, p. 454).

Following the trial in this case, the Trial Court found that Roger's payment of \$153,274.65 to Verna Mae should be set aside as fraudulent, and ordered Verna Mae to repay that sum into the Registry of the Chancery Court of Monroe County for equitable distribution in the divorce proceeding. (T. Vol. 2, p. 286; Appellant's R.E. tab 6). The Trial Court found that the conveyance of Roger's interest in the real property to Verna Mae and his transfer of \$38,497.64 to her were not fraudulent conveyances and did not set those transfers aside. (T. Vol. 2, p. 286-87; Appellant's R.E. tab 6).

Aggrieved from the Trial Court's Judgment, Verna Mae perfected this appeal.

#### STANDARD OF REVIEW

A Chancellor's ruling on a question of law is subject to *de novo* review by this Court. Warren v. Derivaux, 996 So. 2d 729, 735 (Miss. 2008). Factual findings, however, are affirmed if they are supported by substantial evidence in the record. Barnes, Broom, Dallas & McLeod, PLLC v. Estate of Cappaert, 991 So. 2d 1209, 1211 (Miss. 2008).

All of the issues presented by Verna Mae Carroll involve issues of law. Accordingly, each of Verna Mae's assignments of error should be reviewed *de novo*.

#### **SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENTS**

The Trial Court's decision should be reversed for four (4) separate reasons. First, the Court applied the wrong law. The Trial Court applied the Uniform Fraudulent Transfer Act to Anna Carroll's claims. The Uniform Act was not effective until July 1, 2006. The Complaint in

this case was filed on January 27, 2005, and all of the occurrences giving rise to this action occurred well before the enactment of the Uniform Fraudulent Transfer Act. Since the Uniform Act does not contain a provision making it retroactive, the Trial Court erred in applying the Act to this case.

The second and third reasons for reversal are the Trial Court's misapplication of both the predecessor statues and the Uniform Fraudulent Transfer Act to find a fraudulent conveyance. Regardless of whether the Uniform Act or the predecessor statues are applied to this case, the Trial Court erred in finding that the payment to Verna Mae Carroll was fraudulent and in imposing a judgment against Verna Mae. It was undisputed at trial that Roger Carroll legitimately owed Verna Mae \$153,274.65 when he made the payment to her. When Roger sold the gravel business Verna Mae acted in the normal course of business, and in good-faith, by accepting payment for a debt legitimately owed to her stemming from Roger's purchase of the business. This payment was a bona fide transfer based on good consideration. Roger owed the funds to Verna Mae and received an equivalent satisfaction of his debt in exchange for the payment. In the nomenclature of the Uniform Fraudulent Transfer Act, Verna Mae received the funds in good faith and for equivalent value such that the transfer could not be set aside pursuant to Miss. Code Ann. § 15-3-113(1).

As Roger's payment to Verna Mae was, undisputedly, based on a legitimate debt to Verna Mae he incurred in the purchase of the very business he had sold, the analysis under either the Uniform Act or the predecessor statutes demonstrates that the transfer was not fraudulent. In fact, Anna Carroll admitted at trial that she knew of nothing to show that Verna Mae had acted with the intent to defraud her or did anything other than accept payment from Roger for a debt he owed. Accordingly, regardless of the statutory framework applied in this case, the Trial Court

erred in finding the payment to have been fraudulent and in entering judgment against Verna Mae.

Finally, the Trial Court also erred by refusing to apply the doctrine of judicial estoppel based on Anna's inconsistent claims in this case and another proceeding. Just ten (10) days before the trial in this case Anna filed a Complaint in the Circuit Court of Monroe County, Mississippi claiming that this case and her divorce action had been settled by all parties. Anna claimed that the Defendants in that action, including Verna Mae, had acted in bad faith and tortiously breached the settlement agreement. The doctrine of judicial estoppel prohibited Anna from taking such conflicting positions in different proceedings. The Trial Court should have dismissed Anna's claims against Verna Mae in this case pursuant to the doctrine of judicial estoppel.

Accordingly, Verna Mae respectfully requests this Court to reverse the Trial Court's decision and to render judgment in her favor.

#### **ARGUMENT I.**

## THE TRIAL COURT ERRED BY RETROACTIVELY APPLYING THE UNIFORM FRAUDULENT TRANSFER ACT.

Statutes are applied prospectively only unless the statute unequivocally provides that it is to be applied retroactively. *See, e.g, City of Starkville v. 4-County Elec. Power Ass'n*, 909 So. 2d 1094, 1109 (Miss. 2005). In *City of Starkville* the Court explained:

It is well-settled in our jurisprudence that statutes be interpreted prospectively, and where they are not, there must be a clear indication from the Legislature that they be applied retrospectively as well. A statute will not be given retroactive effect unless it is manifest from the language that the Legislature intended it to so operate.

City of Starkville, 909 So. 2d at 1109 (internal citations omitted). Similarly, the Court in Mladinich v. Kohn, 186 So. 2d 481 (Miss. 1966) explained:

A statute will not be given retroactive effect unless it is manifest from the language that the legislature intended it to so operate. It will not be construed as retroactive unless the words admit of no other construction or meaning, and there is a plain declaration in the act that it is. In short, these cases illustrate a well-settled attitude of statutory interpretation

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