IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

VERNA MAE P. CARROLL

DEFENDANT/APPELLANT/

CROSS-APPELLEE

V.

NO. 2009-CA-00328

ANNA F. CARROLL

PLAINTIFF/APPELLEE/ CROSS-APPELLANT

ON APPEAL FROM THE CHANCERY COURT OF MONROE COUNTY MISSISSIPPI

APPEAL BRIEF OF APPELLEE/CROSS-APPELLANT ANNA F. CARROLL

CARTER DOBBS, JR.
MISSISSIPPI BAR NO.
103 2ND AVENUE NORTH
POST OFFICE BOX 517
AMORY, MISSISSIPPI 38821

TEL: (662) 256-5697 FAX: (662) 256-1483

E-MAIL: carterdobbslaw@gmail.com

ATTORNEY FOR THE APPELLEE/CROSS-APPELLANT

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

VERNA MAE P. CARROLL

DEFENDANT/APPELLANT/

CROSS-APPELLEE

V.

NO. 2009-CA-00328

ANNA F. CARROLL

I. STATEMENT OF THE ISSUES ON DIRECT APPEAL

- (A) WHETHER THE TRIAL COURT ERRED BY APPLYING THE UNIFORM FRAUDULENT TRANSFER ACT, SINCE THE ACT WAS NOT EFFECTIVE UNTIL OVER TWO (2) YEARS AFTER THIS LITIGATION WAS COMMENCED.
- (B) WHETHER THE TRANSFER OF \$153,274.65 TO VERNA MAE CARROLL COULD BE SET ASIDE AS FRAUDULENT UNDER EITHER THE UNIFORM FRAUDULENT TRANSFER ACT OR THE PREDECESSOR STATUES WHERE ROGER CARROLL UNDISPUTEDLY OWED THIS SUM TO VERNA MAE CARROLL AT THE TIME OF THE TRANSFER.
- (C) WHETHER THE TRIAL COURT ERRED BY NOT DISMISSING ANNA CARROLL'S COMPLAINT PURSUANT TO THE DOCTRINE OF JUDICIAL ESTOPPEL, SINCE ANNA CARROLL CLAIMED IN ANOTHER PROCEEDING THAT THIS CASE HAD BEEN FINALLY SETTLED.

II. STATEMENT OF THE ISSUES ON CROSS-APPEAL

THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN FINDING THAT THERE WAS NOT A PRESUMPTION OF FRAUD IN CONNECTION WITH THE TRANSFER OF THE SUM OF \$38,497.64 BY DEFENDANT MISSISSIPPI GRAVEL SALES, INC. TO DEFENDANT/CROSS-APPELLEE VERNA MAE P. CARROLL AND/OR THAT SAID PRESUMPTION HAD BEEN REBUTTED BY VERNA MAE P. CARROLL BY CLEAR AND CONVINCING EVIDENCE.

III. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Plaintiff/Appellee/Cross-Appellant Anna F. Carroll will be referred to in this Brief as "Anna." Defendant/Appellant/Cross-Appellee Verna Mae P. Carroll will be referred to in this Brief as "Verna Mae." Roger Carroll, the former husband of Anna and the son of Verna Mae will be referred to in this Brief as "Roger."

Anna agrees with Verna Mae's Statement of the Case as set out in her Brief, except for the statement that the trial Court never ruled on Verna Mae's Motion to Dismiss, Or Alternatively For Summary Judgment, Based On Judicial Estoppel. By proceeding to trial in this case, the trial Court effectively overruled Verna Mae's Motion To Dismiss, Or Alternatively For Summary Judgment, Based On Judicial Estoppel.

IV. STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

Anna agrees with Verna Mae's Statement of Facts, except for the following: Verna Mae, at Page 6 of her Brief states:

From the \$500,000 proceeds from the sale of the business, Roger paid several creditors, including Verna Mae. (See Ex. No. 8; T. Vol. 2, 200-01). Roger paid Verna Mae the total sum of \$191,772.29, in two separate checks, from the sale of the gravel business. (*Id.*) The law firm which closed the transaction mailed Verna Mae two checks on November 18, 2004. (R. Vol. 3. P. 366). The checks mailed to Verna Mae represented: 1) the amount she was still owed under the Agreement for Sale and Transfer of Assets; and 2) the value of certain equipment Roger sold with the gravel business which Carroll's Gravel owned. (Ex. No 8; T. Vol. 2 p 201-02, 203-04).

Verna Mae clearly testified that Roger, not the corporation, was obligated to her, and that she had no written instrument evidencing any collateral in the assets of the corporation (T. 219).

Verna Mae's Statement of Facts leaves out one very important point. Roger's indebtedness to Verna Mae was unsecured. She held no security interest, recorded or otherwise, in the assets of the corporation. The corporation, Mississippi Gravel Sales, Inc. did not owe Verna Mae any money. From the sales proceeds of the gravel business, Roger did not pay

anyone. From the sales proceeds the corporation, Mississippi Gravel Sales, Inc., paid all secured creditors and then the *corporation* paid Verna Mae the balance remaining of \$191,772.29. The law firm that closed the transaction mailed Verna Mae the two checks on behalf of the corporation, not on behalf of Roger. The checks mailed to Verna Mae actually matched: (1) the amount that she was still owed by Roger under the Agreement For Sale And Transfer Of Assets; and (2) the remaining amount left over after the payment of secured creditors of the corporation. The amount of the second check, \$38,497.64, was simply the amount left over from this transaction, and had no specific relation to the proof elicited in this case to the value of any specific equipment.

Verna Mae states at Page 7 of her Brief that Anna sought to attack Roger's transfer of funds owed to Verna Mae) In fact, Anna sought to attack the *corporation's* transfer of funds to Verna Mae.

Verna Mae states at Page of 8 of her Brief that "In fact, Anna admitted that she had no evidence that Verna Mae intended to cheat her out of anything, or that Verna Mae did anything other than accept a payment for a debt that was legitimately owed to her." Anna made no such admission in this case, and Verna Mae's representation of her testimony is a mischaracterization of Anna's testimony. The question that Anna was asked by Verna Mae's attorney was "you don't know *personally* of any evidence to show that Ms. Verna Mae Carroll, my client, intended to cheat you out of anything; is that true?" (T. 115). It was not necessary for Anna to have personal knowledge of the facts constituting fraud on Verna Mae's part in order for her to prevail in this lawsuit.

Finally, the Notice Of Dismissal in Cause No. CV2008-584-PFM in the Circuit Court of Monroe County, Mississippi was filed on January 15, 2009, 35 days *before* the hearing of the post-trial Motions in this case on February 19, 2009. (Appellee/Cross-Appellant's R. E. 12.)

V. STANDARD OF REVIEW

Anna agrees with Verna Mae that all of the issues that Verna Mae presents in her appeal involve issues of law. Therefore, all factual findings by the trial Court as to the issues raised by Verna Mae are not at issue in this appeal and are not properly before this Court.

The issue raised by Anna in her Cross-Appeal involves an erroneous finding of facts by the trial Court, which Anna alleges is not supported by substantial evidence in the Record, and also a question of law, which should be reviewed by this Court *de novo*.

VI. <u>APPELLEE'S RESPONSE TO APPELLANT'S SUMMARY</u> OF THE ARGUMENT ON DIRECT APPEAL

(A) WHETHER THE TRIAL COURT ERRED BY APPLYING THE UNIFORM FRAUDULENT TRANSFER ACT, SINCE THE ACT WAS NOT EFFECTIVE UNTIL OVER TWO (2) YEARS AFTER THIS LITIGATION WAS COMMENCED.

It was within the discretion of the trial Court in exercising its equitable powers to apply the new Act to the transaction in this case, even though it occurred before the enactment of the new statute. Also, case law supports the application of the new Act retroactively.

(B) WHETHER THE TRANSFER OF \$153,274.65 TO VERNA MAE CARROLL COULD BE SET ASIDE AS FRAUDULENT UNDER EITHER THE UNIFORM FRAUDULENT TRANSFER ACT OR THE PREDECESSOR STATUES WHERE ROGER CARROLL UNDISPUTEDLY OWED THIS SUM TO VERNA MAE CARROLL AT THE TIME OF THE TRANSFER.

The facts in this case clearly show that the conveyance of the funds by the corporation to Verna Mae was neither (1) upon good consideration or (2) bona fide. It is very significant that this issue involves an alleged erroneous determination of fact by the lower Court. Verna Mae states in her Brief under the heading "STANDARD OF REVIEW" that all of the issues that she presents to this Court involve issues of law. Accordingly, Verna Mae does not properly present this issue for consideration by this honorable Court.

Verna Mae states at Page 10 of her Brief that Roger Carroll legitimately owed Verna Mae \$153, 274.65 "when he made payment to her." Roger did not pay Verna Mae; the corporation paid her from the sale of the corporation's assets.

Verna Mae states at the bottom of Page 10 of her Brief that Anna admitted at trial that she knew of nothing to show that Verna Mae had acted with intent to defraud her or do anything other to except payment from Roger for a debt that he owed. The question that Anna was asked was whether she had *personal knowledge* of any facts supporting Verna Mae's fraud upon her. It was not necessary for Anna to have personal knowledge of any facts constituting Verna Mae's fraud in order for her to prevail at trial. In common parlance, the question regarding Anna's personal knowledge of the facts is - - - "So What?"

(C) WHETHER THE TRIAL COURT ERRED BY NOT DISMISSING ANNA CARROLL'S COMPLAINT PURSUANT TO THE DOCTRINE OF JUDICIAL ESTOPPEL, SINCE ANNA CARROLL CLAIMED IN ANOTHER PROCEEDING THAT THIS CASE HAD BEEN FINALLY SETTLED.

Anna's suit in Monroe County Circuit Court was dismissed on January 15, 2009, 35 days before the post-trial Motions in this case on February 19, 2009. Also, Verna Mae did not rely upon Anna's position taken in the Circuit Court suit that the instant case and the divorce proceeding had been settled, and Anna did not benefit in any way from the Circuit Court suit. Therefore, the doctrine of Judicial Estoppel could not and cannot apply.

VII. CROSS-APPELLANT'S SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT ON CROSS- APPEAL

(D) THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN FINDING THAT THERE WAS NOT A PRESUMPTION OF FRAUD IN CONNECTION WITH THE TRANSFER OF THE SUM OF \$38,497.64 BY DEFENDANT MISSISSIPPI GRAVEL SALES, INC. TO DEFENDANT/CROSS-APPELLEE VERNA MAE P. CARROLL AND/OR THAT SAID PRESUMPTION HAD BEEN REBUTTED BY VERNA MAE P. CARROLL BY CLEAR AND CONVINCING EVIDENCE.

There was a presumption of fraud in connection with the transfer of the final sum of the sale proceeds of \$38,497.64 by Mississippi Gravel Sales, Inc. to Verna Mae, and said presumption was not rebutted by Verna Mae by clear and convincing evidence for the following four reasons:

- (1) There was no proof elicited by the Verna Mae at trial as to the ownership by Verna Mae of the equipment allegedly transferred to Mississippi Gravel Sales, LLC as consideration for said sum of \$38,497.64.
- (2) There was no evidence elicited by Verna Mae at trial as to the value of said equipment allegedly owned by Verna Mae that was transferred to Mississippi Gravel Sales, LLC.

- (3) The equipment referred to at trial allegedly owned by Verna Mae and allegedly transferred to Mississippi Gravel Sales, LLC (supposedly by Verna Mae) as consideration for said sum of \$38,497.64 is listed on the Exhibit to the Purchase And Sale Contract between Mississippi Gravel Sales, Inc. and Mississippi Gravel Sales, LLC. (Exhibit "2"; Appellee's R. E. 1.) The inclusion of said equipment on said listing is the best evidence that said equipment was owned by and transferred by Mississippi Gravel Sales, Inc. to Mississippi Gravel Sales, LLC, and that it was not in fact owned by or transferred by Verna Mae.
- (4) The payment of the sum of \$38,497.64 to Verna Mae from the proceeds of said gravel company transaction had no specific relation to any of the equipment sold in said transaction, but was simply the amount left over from the \$500,000.00 purchase price after the payment of the secured indebtedness of Mississippi Gravel Sales, Inc. and the payment of the amount of the unsecured note owing by Roger to Verna Mae.

VIII. APPELLEES' RESPONSE TO APPELLANT'S ARGUMENT ON DIRECT APPEAL

(A) WHETHER THE TRIAL COURT ERRED BY APPLYING THE UNIFORM FRAUDULENT TRANSFER ACT, SINCE THE ACT WAS NOT EFFECTIVE UNTIL OVER TWO (2) YEARS AFTER THIS LITIGATION WAS COMMENCED.

The new Uniform Fraudulent Transfer Act, § 15-3-101, et seq., Mississippi Code of 1972, as amended went into effect on July 1, 2006, and repealed § 15-3-3. The new Fraudulent Transfer Act was properly considered and applied by the Court in this cause for two reasons:

First, the new Act is the expression by the legislature of the public policy of this state to be followed and considered by the Courts in evaluating alleged fraudulent transfers. It is within the discretion of this Court in exercising its equitable powers to consider and apply this public policy statement by the legislature as to the transaction that occurred at any time, even before the enactment of the statute.

Second, there is case law authority for the statute to be applied retroactively. The Uniform Fraudulent Conveyance Act was cited and considered by the Mississippi Supreme Court in the case of *Barbee v. Pigott*, 507 So.2d 77; 85 (Miss. 1987.) This was 19 years before the enactment of the statute in Mississippi.

Verna Mae in her Brief at Page 13 states "Incredibly, the Judgment prepared by Anna Carroll's counsel hedged as to which law might be applicable – the Judgment provided that the transfer was found fraudulent under *either* 15-3-3 *or* the Uniform Fraudulent Transfer Act. (R. Vol. 3, p. 421)." Anna agrees that the Judgment found the transfer fraudulent under either statute, but disagrees that this finding by the Chancellor was "incredible." Anna's counsel simply followed the Chancellor's Opinion in drafting the Judgment. The Chancellor in his Bench Opinion, (at Pages 280 – 281) stated that "all that the new Act did was to put in dignified language what the old code did. The old code had a lot of common sense and it just had a lot of common English in the new Acts."

(B) WHETHER THE TRANSFER OF \$153,274.65 TO VERNA MAE CARROLL COULD BE SET ASIDE AS FRAUDULENT UNDER EITHER THE UNIFORM FRAUDULENT TRANSFER ACT OR THE PREDECESSOR STATUES WHERE ROGER CARROLL UNDISPUTEDLY OWED THIS SUM TO VERNA MAE CARROLL AT THE TIME OF THE TRANSFER.

Verna Mae in this portion of her Brief attacks the Chancellor's Findings of Facts in this case. Significantly, Verna Mae states in her Brief under the heading "STANDARD OF REVIEW" that all of the issues that she presents involve issues of law. Accordingly, Verna Mae does not properly present this issue for consideration by this honorable Court.

The Chancellor in his Opinion made details Findings of Fact as to the reasons that the transaction in this case was fraudulent under the terms of either the new Uniform Fraudulent Transfer Act or its predecessor fraudulent transfer statute, § 15-3-3. The Chancellor went on to detail how the seminal case of *Blount v. Blount*, 95 So. 2d 545 (Miss. 1957) applies to the facts in this case. (Appellant/Cross-Appellees R. E. 3; R. 269-286).

The conveyance of the funds in this case was neither (1) upon good consideration or (2) bona fide. There was no consideration flowing from Verna Mae P. Carroll to Mississippi Gravel Sales, Inc. because the corporation was not indebted to Verna Mae P. Carroll. The conveyance was not bona fide because the evidence in this case shows that the conveyance of the funds to Defendant Verna Mae P. Carroll was done in order to hinder, delay or defraud the Plaintiff, Anna Carroll, as a creditor of Roger Carroll.

In addition to the foregoing, the transaction in this case violated the old traditional Mississippi Statute of Frauds, § 15-3-1, Mississippi Code of 1972. This statute states that:

An action shall not be brought whereby to charge a Defendant or other party:

a. Upon any special promise to answer for the debt or default or miscarriage of another person;

* * *

unless, in each of said cases, the promise or agreement upon which such action may be brought, or some memorandum or note thereof, shall be in writing, and signed by the party to be charged therewith or signed by some person by him or her thereunto lawfully authorized in writing.

There is no writing in this case between Defendant Verna Mae P. Carroll and Defendant Mississippi Gravel Sales, Inc. that would support the conveyance of the funds by the corporation to Verna Mae P. Carroll. Significantly, Verna Mae P. Carroll could not have brought any action in Court against Mississippi Gravel Sales, Inc. to enforce the payment of the funds that were voluntarily paid to her in this case.

At Page 16 of her Brief Verna Mae makes the following statement:

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